2010 CA 01015 T

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Mignon Willis, Appellant
- 2. Rehab Solutions, PLLC, Appellee
- 3. Chad Willis, member of Rehab Solutions, PLLC
- 4. Renee Willis, member of Rehab Solutions, PLLC
- 5. L. Bradley Dillard, counsel for Appellee
- 6. R. Shane McLaughlin, counsel for Appellant
- 7. Nicole H. McLaughlin, counsel for Appellant

R. Shane McLaughlin

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether Mississippi law allows an employer to recover wages paid to an employee as damages for the employee's failure to perform certain job duties during her employment.
- 2. Even if Mississippi law allows an employee's compensation to be recovered by the employer as unjust enrichment, whether the record can support recovery based on unjust enrichment in this case.
- 3. Whether the compensatory damages of \$133,543.17 awarded in this case are supported by the evidence, since the only actual damages proven at trial totaled \$24,803.77.
- 4. Whether the Trial Court erred as a matter of law in finding that the discovery rule applied to toll the statute of limitations.
- 5. Whether the Court erred by instructing the jury that the employment at-will relationship of the parties included an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.
- 6. Whether the evidence adduced at trial can support an award of punitive damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rehab Solutions, PLLC filed a Complaint against its former employee, Mignon Willis, on April 8, 2008. (C.P. p. 1)¹. Mignon Willis filed an Answer and Counterclaim. (C.P. p. 9). Rehab Solutions, PLLC answered the Counterclaim. (C.P. p. 23).

Mignon Willis filed four (4) separate Motions requesting dismissal of certain claims alleged by Rehab Solutions. (C.P. p. 79). Two of the Motions were denied before trial. (T. p. 68). The Court dispensed with the third motion by allowing the Plaintiff to amend the Complaint to substitute an unjust enrichment claim for the quantum meriut claim alleged in the Complaint. (Id.). The Court held the final motion to dismiss, regarding the statue of limitations defense, in abeyance pending the proof at trial. (Id.). The case proceeded to trial from May 17, 2010, to May 20, 2010. (See C.P. p. 58).

At the conclusion of Plaintiff's case-in-chief, Defendant moved for a directed verdict. (T. p. 493-96). The Trial Court denied the motion for a directed verdict in all respects. (T. p. 504). At the conclusion of the proof, the Court granted a partial directed verdict in favor of the Plaintiff in the amount of \$13,721.21 representing penalties, interest and increased taxes allegedly caused by Defendant's actions while she was employed by Plaintiff. (T. p. 586-87).

The jury returned a verdict of \$133,543.17 against Defendant. (C.P. p. 199). Defendant moved to set the verdict aside and the motion was denied. (T. p. 660). The jury was subsequently instructed regarding punitive damages, over Defendant's objection, and returned a verdict imposing punitive damages of \$50,000. (See T. p. 662, 669-70; C.P. p. 190). Defendant likewise moved to set aside the verdict imposing punitive damages and the Trial Court denied the Motion. (T. p. 677-78).

¹ Throughout this Brief Clerk's Papers are cited as "C.P." and the trial transcript is cited as "T."

The Trial Court entered an Order on all motions on May 24, 2010. (C.P. p. 210). The Trial Court entered the Final Judgment on May 24, 2010. (C.P. p. 211). Defendant timely perfected this appeal. (C.P. p. 213).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Siblings Chad Willis and Renee Willis are both physical therapists. (T. p. 92-93). Chad and Renee owned a private physical therapy practice called Rehab Solutions, PLLC, in Tupelo, Mississippi. (T. p. 92-93). Rehab Solutions generally employed about eight (8) or nine (9) employees and at various times had locations in Tupelo, Amory and Baldwyn, Mississippi. (T. p. 115, 203, 234-35).

Around January 2003 Chad and Renee began moving their practice to a new location within Tupelo. (T. p. 97). As part of the transition, Chad and Renee wanted to bring all aspects of their business in-house. (*Id.*). Chad and Renee approached Mignon Willis, their first cousin, about working for them doing in-house accounting work and serving as the office manager. (T. p. 98). Mignon had worked previously as an accountant. (Id). Mignon eventually accepted and started to work as an employee of Rehab Solutions in January 2003.² (T. p. 97).

When Mignon was hired Rehab Solutions agreed to employ her at the rate of \$30 per hour. (T. p. 196). Mignon's rate of pay never changed during the time of her employment. (Id.). Mignon's job duties were to generally serve as the office manager for the practice. (See, e.g., 192). Mignon was responsible for a wide range of duties. Mignon was in charge of retrieving the business's mail, ordering medical supplies, dealing with insurance companies and receivables, collections from patients, handling payroll for the employees, making deposits, paying vendors, expense reimbursements and preparing tax returns. (See, e.g., T. p. 101, 192, 336, 255, 524). Mignon was not an authorized signer on the business's checking account so either Chad or Renee signed all of the checks which Mignon prepared. (T. p. 236).

² There is no dispute in the Record that Mignon was an employee of Rehab Solutions, not an independent contractor. (T. p. 122, 193).

Chad claimed that he first learned of some problems with Mignon's job performance around November 2007. (T. p. 109-10). In November 2007 a representative of one of the business's suppliers, DuraTech, informed Chad that Rehab Solutions was late on its bill. (T. p. 112-13). Chad claimed he was surprised as he thought all of the bills were paid. (T. p. 113-14). Chad confronted Mignon and Mignon claimed the bill had been paid. (T. p. 114). Chad, however, testified that he learned that the bill had in-fact not been paid. (T. p. 115). Mignon was supposed to have paid the bill but had not done so. (*Id.*).

Chad and Renee reduced Mignon's hours after November 2007. (T. p. 115). Chad took over some of Mignon's duties. (*Id.*). Chad claims that in January 2008 he learned that there were liens for unpaid taxes on his property. (T. p. 116-17). Chad contacted a local accounting firm and had another accountant, Amanda Angle, come to the facility to audit the business's financial records. (T. p. 121). Chad and Renee testified that they began looking in Mignon's office and found a large amount of unopened mail. (*See* T. p. 133). The mail included several unopened tax notices, vendor bills as well as payments sent to Rehab Solutions. (T. p. 133, 150; Exhibit P-31). Several checks to Rehab Solutions had not been opened or negotiated but were left in a box in Mignon's office. (*Id.*).

Mignon was out of the office with kidney stones when Angle came to the business and began her audit. (T. p. 545-46). Chad testified that he demanded that Mignon meet with Angle about the financial issues but that Mignon refused. (T. 123-26). Chad testified that as Angle entered the front door of the building Mignon left through the back door. (*Id.*). Mignon did participate in a telephone conference call with Angle regarding the issues. (T. p. 447-48). However, Mignon testified that she was out sick for several days during this time period. (T. p. 545-46). She eventually declined to return to work after several threatening telephone calls from

Chad in which Chad accused her of stealing money and stated he never wanted to see her again. (T. p. 549). Mignon's last day working for Rehab Solutions was January 14, 2008. (T. p. 247).

It was undisputed at trial that Mignon Willis never improperly converted or misappropriated any money from Rehab Solutions. (*See, e.g,* T. p. 209-10, 379). Mignon was not accused of embezzlement or conversion in this case. (T. P. 209-10). Chad Willis conceded that the investigation did not reveal that Mignon improperly took any money. (T. p. 209). Renee likewise testified that Mignon had made no inappropriate expenditures during her employment. (T. p. 381). Specifically, Renee testified:

Q. Okay . . . Ms. Willis, again, to hit on this, you certainly don't contend that there was any embezzlement or any stealing going on, anything of that nature?

A. No. I don't feel like Mignon embezzled anything from us.

(T. p. 379). Chad and Renee repeatedly conceded that Mignon had stolen nothing, but claimed Mignon had simply not performed all of her job duties. (See id.).

Amanda Angle, the outside accountant, similarly testified that her investigation uncovered no evidence of any illegal activity committed by Mignon and that Mignon had simply failed to perform certain tasks. (T. p. 464). Angle explained her findings:

Q. Ms. Angle, just a few questions I want to ask you. And going back to the beginning and looking at some of this, as I understand, you offered an opinion of maybe some intent in this situation. But, I mean, did you find any evidence of any illegal activity when you went through these records, went through these documents?

A. Illegal activity?

Q. Yes. Embezzlement, fraud, forged checks, anything like that.

A. No, no. And that -- you know, initially when this kind of thing to this extent goes this far, you think there has to be something here, a purpose, a reasoning. And there was -- we didn't find any reason for fraud or embezzlement. It was just obvious not doing the job.

Q. Some things that weren't done and mistakes were made. Fair enough?

A. Correct.

(T. p. 464).

At trial Chad and Renee's new accountants claimed that Mignon had failed to pay bills owed to vendors in the amount of about \$26,000 and had failed to pay federal and state unemployment taxes for several years. (See T. p. 408, 416). While Mignon had properly paid employee payroll withholding taxes, Chad and Renee claimed she had failed to file the appropriate tax returns for several years. (T. p. 416). Rehab Solutions claimed that as a result of Mignon not paying the unemployment taxes and failing to file tax returns, the business incurred damages of \$13,731.21. (T. p. 459). This sum accounted for all of the penalties and interest as well as accounting for an unemployment tax rate increase due to the failure to pay unemployment taxes. (T. p. 459). Amanda Angle testified that the incursion of these penalties, interest and the rate increase was the result of Mignon failing to perform all of her job duties. (T. p. 459). Amanda Angle's accounting firm charged Rehab Solutions accounting fees of \$11,071.96 which Chad and Renee also claimed were incurred because of Mignon's failings. (T. p. 163, 406). Thus, the total of the penalties, interest, rate increases and accounting fees alleged at trial was \$24,803.77.

Aside from not paying some vendor bills and not filing corporate tax returns Chad and Renee also claimed that Mignon ordered unnecessary medical supplies. (T. p. 255). Chad complained that Mignon improperly ordered non-essential supplies when the business owed outstanding bills to other vendors. (*Id.*).

At trial the Parties hotly disputed the reason that Mignon had not paid various bills and taxes. Mignon claimed that there were several instances of insufficient cash flow to pay all of

the bills. (See, e.g., T. p. 298-99, 309-10). In fact, Mignon claimed that she had not cashed her own payroll checks for several pay periods because of cash flow problems. (T. P. 323-34). Chad and Renee conceded that Mignon had not negotiated several of her payroll checks but claimed she did this voluntarily and not because of insufficient cash flow. (T. p. 244-45). Chad and Renee simply claimed Mignon neglected her job duties. (See id.).

Mignon admitted that she made mistakes in failing to file the tax returns and failing to pay the unemployment taxes. (T. p. 511). Mignon admitted that the \$13,371.21 in penalties, interest and unemployment tax rate increases were caused by her mistakes of not filing the necessary returns. (T. p. 511). Mignon admitted that some of the accounting fees alleged were incurred in correcting her mistakes. (T. p. 565). However, Mignon maintained that many of the business's bills were not paid because of insufficient cash flow. (T. p. 535, 563). Mignon testified that she knew some vendors were unpaid simply because there was not enough cash to cover the bills. (T. p. 563).

Chad and Renee claimed that they were entitled not only to damages for the penalties, interest and accounting fees, but that Mignon should also repay one-half of her salary over the five (5) year period in which she worked for Rehab Solutions. (T. p. 170-71, 356). Ostensibly, Chad and Renee opined that Mignon probably did about half of her job duties, so she should be liable to return half of her pay over the entire duration of her employment. (*See* T. p. 170-71, 356).

Chad testified that Mignon Willis had been paid about \$255,000 over the course of her five (5) years working for Rehab Solutions, at the rate of \$30 per hour. (T. p. 170). Chad testified that the business was entitled to an award in the range of \$125,000 to \$150,000 because Mignon did not perform all of her job duties. (T. p. 171). Chad explained that Mignon had

unquestionably performed some of her job duties, and in "trying to be fair" he only asked that she repay in the range of half of the compensation paid to her rather than all of it. (*Id.*). Renee Willis likewise requested about half Mignon's salary back, testifying as follows:

Q. In an effort to save time, do you understand the total amount of money paid to Ms. Willis over the five-year period to be in the neighborhood of \$255,000?

A. I'd say that that's close.

Q. Did you hear Mr. Willis's testimony as to the amount that he would ask the jury to award from that being half?

A. I do. I do.

Q. Do you agree with that?

A. Well, I do know, like he said, she did perform some of the duties. I feel like that half of that would be fair.

Q. Based on what you know now, do you believe that Rehab Solutions got fair value for what was paid to Ms. Willis?

A. No.

(T. p. 356).

However, it is apparently undisputed in the Record that Mignon was actually at the office for all of the hours for which she was paid. (*See, e.g.,* T. p. 115, 186, 202). There was no evidence or contention at trial that Mignon Willis had been paid for hours she had not been present at the Rehab Solutions facility. (*See id.*). Chad Willis testified as follows:

Q. Right, right. But those were hours that she was present. I understand you may have an issue with her performance. She came in, she put the time in the office, either you or your sister or both signed the paycheck to her.

A. Right. She entered in her hours and the time she was there being in the management position of when she said that she was there, correct.

(T. p. 202). There was no evidence at trial showing that Mignon had falsified her time records or was ever paid for hours she had not been present. (See generally id). Chad and Renee signed

every one of Mignon's paychecks over the five (5) years she worked for them. (*Id.*). Chad and Renee never questioned Mignon's pay or her hours. (*Id.*).

At various points during the trial Chad and Renee agreed that Mignon had performed many of her assigned tasks such as retrieving the mail, completing weekly payroll for the employees and ordering medical supplies. (See, e.g., T. p. 171, 200, 356) Chad and Renee claimed that Mignon failed to pay some vendor bills, failed to pay unemployment taxes and failed to file corporate tax returns. (T. p 170). For these failings, Chad and Renee were allowed to pursue a claim for not only damages allegedly caused by Mignon's failures, but for the return of compensation paid to her.

Chad and Renee testified that they never looked at a single bank statement or monitored accounts payable or accounts receivable after Mignon was hired. (T. p. 220-21, 371-73). The business ran smoothly from January 2003 until November 2007 and neither of the owners ever monitored Mignon's handling of the finances. (T. p. 221-22). Chad testified that "there was no reason to . . . monitor her job" since the business was running profitably. (T. p. 222). Renee echoed that she "truly trusted her to do that job for us. I didn't expect anything less." (T. p. 369). Renee summarized as follows:

Q. I mean, did the thought ever even cross your mind about maybe checking on your money?

A. Absolutely not. It didn't.

(T. p. 373).

Chad and Renee claim they had "total faith and trust" in Mignon handling the finances. (T. p. 102, 210; see also T. p. 340). Chad and Renee testified that after January 2003 they assumed that Mignon was doing everything that needed to be done in that regard. (See, e.g., T.

p. 198-200, 340). Chad and Renee completely relinquished control over the business side of the business to Mignon. (See, e.g., T. p. 222, 370).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews issues of law *de novo*. *Corban v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n*, 20 So. 3d 601, 609 (Miss. 2009). A Trial Court's ruling regarding a statute of limitations defense is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *Fletcher v. Lyles*, 999 So. 2d 1271, 1276 (Miss. 2009).

In jurisdictions which have discussed employees' liability to return compensation to an employer, the issue is generally reviewed *de novo*. *Milwaukee Precision Casting, Inc. v. Hagedorn*, 590 N.W.2d 281 (Wis. 1999). (citing *Burg v. Miniature Precision Components, Inc.*, 330 N.W.2d 192, 198 (1983)). The Wisconsin Courts recognized that "whether [an employer] has met its burden of establishing a *prima facie* case [that it is entitled to the return of compensation paid to a disloyal employee] is a question of law which [the reviewing] court may examine independently." *Burg v. Miniature Precision Components, Inc.*, 330 N.W.2d 192, 198 (Wis. 1983).

The Court will reverse a jury verdict where "it is clear that the verdict is a result of prejudice, bias or fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of the credible evidence." *Garris v. Smith's G&G, LLC*, 941 So. 2d 228, 231 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). The Court looks at the evidence in the light most favorable to the party in whose favor the jury decided. *Lewis v. Hiatt*, 683 So. 2d 937, 941 (Miss. 1996). However, a jury award of damages is reversed where the award shocks the conscience when compared to the amount of actual damages proven. *United States FId. & Guar. Co. v. Martin*, 998 So. 2d 956, 969 (Miss. 2008). In evaluating these issues "the Court assumes a role as a "thirteenth juror." *Estate of Jones v. Phillips*, 992 So. 2d 1131, 1149 (Miss. 2008).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The Trial Court erred by instructing the jury that Mignon Willis could be liable to Rehab Solutions for wages she was paid during her employment under the doctrine of unjust enrichment. No law in Mississippi, or in any other State, stands for the proposition that an employee can be liable to return wages paid by the employer simply because the employee shirked job duties. The wages paid to an employee are not the proper measure of damages even if the employee's inactions damaged an employer. At most, Mignon Willis could be liable for the damages actually proven at trial. An award greater than this, representing a portion of the wages paid to Mignon over five (5) years, awards compensation to Rehab Solutions above the damages it actually sustained.

Allowing an employer to recover wages paid to an employee simply because the employee failed to perform some job duties will amount to untenable public policy. Under the result reached by the Trial Court in this case, any employee could be liable for unjust enrichment if the employee fails to perform some of the employee's job duties even if the employee worked all of the hours for which he was paid. This Court should announce that this is not the law in Mississippi. This Court should hold that employees cannot be held liable to repay their hourly compensation simply for failing to perform all of their job duties.

However, even if the doctrine of unjust enrichment did allow employers to recover wages from employees, the doctrine of unjust enrichment would not apply in this case. No proof at trial established that Mignon Willis was paid for hours that she had not actually been present at Rehab Solutions. While Mignon did not perform every job duty assigned to her, she did perform many job duties. The proof was insufficient to establish that Mignon's receipt of hourly compensation was an "unjust" enrichment.

The Trial Court also erred in finding that the discovery rule tolled the statute of limitations until Chad and Renee actually learned that Mignon had failed to pay a vendor bill. The alleged injuries in this case are not "latent injuries" within the meaning of Mississippi Code section 15-1-49 such that the discovery rule applies to this case. The fact that Mignon did not perform some of her job duties was not latent, but was readily apparent to both owners of Rehab Solutions if they had made any inquiry whatsoever. The discovery rule does not toll the statute of limitations under these circumstances.

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