IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-TS-01015

MIGNON WILLIS

APPELLANT

V.

REHAB SOLUTIONS, PLLC

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI No. CV08-054(R)L

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

MITCHELL, MCNUTT & SAMS, P.A.

L. Bradley Dillard, MSB #1000 105 South Front Street Post Office Box 7120 Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-7120 (662) 842-3871 (Telephone) (662) 842-8450 (Facsimile)

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-TS-01015

MIGNON WILLIS

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

REHAB SOLUTIONS, PLLC

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly allowed the jury to consider Rehab's unjust enrichment claim given the facts of this case, wherein an employee intentionally failed to perform key aspects of her job duties, and concealed that failure from her employer. Unjust enrichment is a long recognized cause of action in the state of Mississippi, the elements of which fit squarely within the facts of this case. Mississippi public policy does not prohibit an award of damages as determined by the trier of fact after a four day trial; indeed, public policy dictates that a person, such as Appellant, cannot be unjustly enriched for her intentional and deceitful actions.

As correctly found by Lee County Circuit Court Judge James Roberts, the discovery rule tolled the normal three (3) year statute of limitations found at <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> section 15-1-49. Ample evidence existed at trial that Appellant controlled the business mail and exclusively handled the business finances and tax obligations. The trust imposed on her, and the responsibility she readily accepted, was based on her family relationship with Chad Willis and Renee Willis, her education and years of employment as an accountant in Florida, and her

representations to Chad and Renee Willis that she could, and would, faithfully handle these responsibilities. Further, Appellant's intentional deceit and concealment of her, at times, utter failure to perform the key aspects of her employment render the discovery rule especially applicable in this cause.

Assuming Appellant correctly stated the law on an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing in the context of an employee at will, Appellant has waived any objection as the instruction at issue was submitted by agreement of counsel. It is well settled that any objection to an instruction is waived if not made prior to submission of the instruction. Here, all counsel agreed that the instruction was proper. Further, the instructions as a whole accurately stated the law, and a viable cause of action against the Appellant. The jury simply returned a general verdict for compensatory damages against the Appellant; there were no jury interrogatories submitted and no way to determine whether the jury even considered this instruction in their deliberations. As ample basis existed for a verdict in favor of Rehab in this cause, any error was merely harmless and thus did not justify reversal.

Lastly, the proof at trial demonstrated that the Appellant willfully and intentionally took actions which caused harm to Rehab, and further concealed her malfeasance for many years. Appellant repeatedly assured the owners of Rehab that "she did not make mistakes" and that she was in fact performing the duties entrusted to her. The award of \$50,000.00 in punitive damages was not excessive given the large compensatory award and was supported by the evidence introduced at trial.

ARGUMENT

Ĭ. THE COMPENSATORY DAMAGES AWARDED TO REHAB UNDER ANY THEORY WERE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND APPLICABLE LAW

Appellant attacks the compensatory damages awarded by the Lee County, Mississippi jury in the amount of \$133,543.17 on a number of grounds.⁷ First, Appellant argues that Rehab could not recover paid but unearned wages from Appellant under a theory of unjust enrichment.⁸ Unjust enrichment is defined as:

An . . . action based on a promise, which is implied in law, that one will pay a person what he is entitled to according to "equity and good conscience." Thus, the action is based on the equitable principle "that a person shall not be allowed to enrich himself unjustly at the expense of another." It is an obligation created by law in the absence of any agreement; therefore, it is an implied in law contract.

1704 21st Avenue, Ltd. v. City of Gulfport, 988 So. 2d 412, 416 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009); see also Joel v. Joel, 43 So. 3d 424, 432 (Miss. 2010). As an initial matter, Appellant did not object to the unjust enrichment instruction, marked as C-12, being proffered to the jury. Absent a contemporaneous objection to the instruction, it is well settled that this issue is waived on appeal. "In order to preserve a jury instruction issue on appeal, a party must make a specific objection to the proposed instruction in order to allow the lower court to consider the issue". Coleman v. Ford Motor Co., 2011 WL 71473 *9 (Miss. Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Crawford v. State, 787 So. 2d 1236, 1244-45 (Miss. 2001)). Here, not only was no objection made, but counsel specifically agreed upon the instructions to be submitted to the jury. (T. pp. 590-91). In the absence of a

⁷ For convenience sake, Appellant's issues I., II. and III. are addressed collectively in Argument I. of Rehab's brief. ⁸ Rehab agrees with Appellant that this issue appears to be one of first impression in the State of Mississippi. 918341

timely objection, and in light of Appellant's consent to Instruction C-12 on the unjust enrichment issue, this issue simply has not been preserved for appeal and cannot be considered by this honorable court.

Nonetheless, should the court deign to consider this issue the facts of the instant case fall squarely within the unjust enrichment doctrine as pronounced by the Mississippi appellate courts. At trial, evidence was produced from Chad Willis and Renee Willis, and more importantly from the Appellant, that Appellant was paid \$30 per hour, and approximately \$255,000.00 over a five-year period, to perform accounting and related functions. (T. pp. 102; 302; 356). Crucial aspects of her job included preparation and submission of various tax documents and returns, calculation and payment of various state and federal taxes, preparation of social security documentation, payment of vendors and reconciliation of bank statements. (T. pp. 300-301). Appellant testified that she was capable of performing these tasks and was indeed well qualified to do so. (T. p. 303-04). These key matters were exclusively within the Appellant's purview and were critical components of her employment with Rehab.⁹ (T. pp. 300-04).

Inexplicably, Appellant intentionally refused to perform a significant number of these "life or death" duties, and purposefully concealed same from the owners of Rehab. Specifically, Appellant did (or failed to do) the following:

(1). Appellant failed to reconcile the Rehab bank accounts and statements since approximately June of 2004.

(2). Appellant failed to file corporate tax returns for 4 years.

⁹ As testified to by Rehab's owners, Appellant was hired so that these matters could be brought "in house" rather than being handled by an outside accountant. (T. p. 97). To that end, Appellant was provided with her own private office and computer, and was very well paid, to perform these tasks. (T. pp. 99-100, 129, 136-38). 918341 9

(3). Appellant failed to pay multiple quarters of unemployment taxes resulting in liens being placed on the Rehab property.

(4). Appellant failed to open and address mail, including mail from the Internal Revenue Service and Mississippi Unemployment Security Commission.

(5). Appellant failed to pay vendors, resulting in damage to Rehab's business reputation. (T. pp. 300-01).

As conceded by Appellant, these duties were ones for which she was hired, and which she was expected to complete. (Id.). Appellant also acknowledged just how important these matters were to Rehab. (T. p. 566). Despite this, it is indisputable that Appellant did not simply fail, but intentionally refused to perform these duties, duties for which she was paid the sum of approximately \$255,000.00. (T. pp. 102, 356). In light of the facts of this case, a claim of unjust enrichment is squarely on point. As held in 1704 21st Avenue, Ltd., supra, in "equity and good conscience", the Appellant should not "be allowed to enrich [herself] unjustly at the expense of [Rehab]." Unquestionably, Appellant would be unjustly enriched if allowed to retain hundreds of thousands of dollars she was paid to perform the above described tasks; this is especially true in light of expert Amanda Angle's testimony that "there was less done than done" regarding Appellant's job duties. (T. p. 489) (emphasis added). Although counsel for Appellant argues that such a result is against public policy¹⁰, no Mississippi case has held this.

Recognizing the absence of controlling or even persuasive law on this point in either Mississippi state or federal courts, Appellant relies exclusively on a 1978 opinion from New York and a 1961 opinion from New Jersey. Even these authorities, however, recognize that an employee may be required to disgorge wages paid to them where fraud, mistake, duress, or

ŧ

¹⁰ No one would argue that, for instance, an individual who was paid to paint a house, and who intentionally failed to do so, should not be required to refund at least a portion of his or her pay. Further, no logical person would argue that an attorney hired to perform a task(s) would be unjustly enriched if he or she retained a fee yet failed to perform the services for which the attorney was hired. No distinction of merit exists between those scenarios, and Appellant's employment at Rehab. 918341

implied or express agreement exist, or if similar facts are present. Nutrition Foundation, Inc. v. Gitzen, 62 A.2d 943 (N.Y. App. Ct. 1978) in fact merely held that "an employer may not recover wages paid to or other compensation received by an employee during a period of completed employment upon allegations of negligence in the performance of his duties....". As is evident from the record, many claims aside from negligence were advanced by Rehab. (R. pp. 00003 -00007).11

Similarly, the second case relied upon by Appellant, being Toker, Inc. v. Cohen, 169 A.2d 838 (N.J. Sup. 1961), concerned advances made to a commissioned salesman which the employer sought recovery of post employment. Although that Court announced a general rule that "in the absence of fraud, duress, mistake or express or implied agreement" an employee would not normally be required to repay wages, the Court expounded on the ruling by holding that "a showing that he accepted [payment] in bad faith with no intention of making sales for the employer might amount to fraud sufficient to enable the employer to recover the advances". Toker, Inc., 169 A.2d at 844. In the case at hand, the facts presented to the jury demonstrate that Appellant's actions went far beyond mere negligence, and rose to a willful and intentional refusal to perform her assigned job duties. Further, proof was presented to the jury that Appellant intentionally and fraudulently concealed her wrongdoing so that it would not be discovered by the owners of Rehab, going so far as to hide mail, instruct vendors and others to talk only to her, and lying to the owners of Rehab by assuring them that all of her duties were in fact properly performed. (T. pp. 444-463). Appellant's deceit continued even during initial cross-examination by counsel for Rehab when she continued to deny any wrongdoing at all, or any failure to perform her duties. (T. p. 327). Only after accountants Angle and Crawford

¹¹ In addition to negligence, the trial court instructed the jury on the following causes of action: intentional misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, unjust enrichment, duty of good faith, detrimental reliance, gross negligence and breach of contract. (T. pp. 603-606). 918341 11

testified at length regarding Appellant's actions and omissions did she admit to any failure to perform her job duties. (T. pp. 510-12, 557, 566).

The jury heard abundant testimony, and reviewed numerous exhibits, which supported a finding that Appellant's actions went far beyond mere negligence. It has been held by both Mississippi appellate courts, that findings by the trier of fact "will be respected when they are supported by reasonable evidence in the record and are not manifestly wrong". Cox v. Cox, 2011 WL 208312 (Miss. Ct. App. 2011); Allied Steel Corp. v. Cooper, 607 So. 2d 113 (Miss. 1992). In the case at hand, more than reasonable evidence existed in the record to support a claim for unjust enrichment¹² under Mississippi law based on Appellant's undisputed acts and omissions. Accordingly, there is no basis for reversal of any portion of the jury's compensatory damages award.

In addition to a claim for repayment or disgorgement of a portion of Appellant's unearned wages, in its Complaint Rehab also asserted a claim for damages to its business reputation. (R. pp. 00003-00007). This claim was supported by the testimony of Rehab's owners, and the testimony of vendors Carolyn Fondren and Barry Drury. Ms. Fondren testified that her employer sells primarily t-shirts and similar items, and has been a supplier to Rehab for many years. (T. p. 277). Prior to the employment of Appellant, Ms. Fondren's employer had no trouble being paid in a timely manner, and in fact typically received a check for payment in full by return mail. (T. p. 277). Following the hire of Appellant, however, payments were made significantly slower, if at all. (T. pp.278-279). The non-payment issue became so severe and pervasive that Ms. Fondren's business began requiring pre-payment from Rehab, a practice which it only utilized for poor or risky customers. (T. p. 280).

¹² Although Appellant argues that a claim of unjust enrichment is improper because "employment at will" is a contract. Appellant ignores the fact that a breach of contract claim did in fact go to the jury for consideration, and provides a basis upon which the verdict could have been returned. T. pp. 606-07). 918341 12

Vendor Barry Drury of Duratech also testified at trial; like Ms. Fondren, Mr. Drury had a long relationship with Rehab and knew the owners personally.¹³ (T. p. 429). Like Ms. Fondren, Mr. Drury had received prompt payment on invoices from Rehab until Appellant was hired; after that time payments were past due when made at all. (T. pp. 429-430). Indeed, Mr. Drury testified that his employer refused to do business with Rehab due to inability to receive payment. (T. pp. 431-432). Based on the testimony of Ms. Fondren and Mr. Drury, clearly a reasonable basis existed for the jury to award damages to the business reputation of Rehab.¹⁴

Damages are deemed speculative only when the cause is uncertain, not when the amount is uncertain. Parker Tractor & Implement Co. v. Johnson, 819 So.2d 1234, 1239 (Miss. 2002). "Where it is reasonably certain that damage has resulted, mere uncertainty as to the amount will not preclude the right of recovery or prevent a jury decision awarding damages." Cain v. Mid-South Pump Co., 458 So. 2d 1048, 1050 (Miss. 1984). When loss is realized, but "the extent of the injury and the amount of damage are not capable of exact and accurate proof," damages may be awarded if the evidence lays "a foundation which will enable the trier of fact to make a fair and reasonable estimate of the amount of damage." Id. at 1050.

Warren v. Derivaux, 996 So.2d 729, 737 (Miss. 2008). Based on the proof developed by Rehab at trial, the jury certainly had a basis to award damages in an amount which, in its determination, would compensate Rehab. These damages could have been in either the form of a portion of the wages paid to Appellant, for damage to the business reputation of Rehab, or a combination of the two.¹⁵ When viewed as a whole, the record supports the jury's verdict under

¹³ Both Ms, Fondren and Mr. Drury testified that because of their relationships with Chad Willis and Renee Willis, and because Appellant advised them to only deal with her on payment issues, they did not contact Chad or Renee to discuss non-payment issues. (T. pp. 431; 437-438).

Although Appellant may dispute the testimony regarding damages to Rehab's business reputation, "it is wellsettled law that the jury determines the credibility of witnesses and resolves conflicts in the evidence". Sullivan v State, 2011 WL 1366441, (Miss. Ct. App. April 12, 2011).

Based on the approximately \$255,000.00 paid to Appellant in wages during her employment, and Rehab's estimate that she performed approximately one half of her assigned duties, the jury was asked to award damages to Rehab in the amount of \$127,500.00 in disgorgement of unearned wages, and an unspecified amount for damage to Rehab's business reputation. (T. p. 646). 918341

an unjust enrichment theory of otherwise, and fully supports the compensatory verdict awarded by the jury. No basis exists to reverse the Lee County, Mississippi's verdict in favor of Rehab in any fashion.

II. THE TRIAL PROPERLY FOUND THAT NONE OF REHAB SOLUTIONS' CLAIMS WERE BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

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